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§ 29.1 - DECEPTIVE TRADE PRACTICES CLAIMS

§ 29.1.1—Introduction

The Consumer Protection Act has only recently been used in the context of legal malprac-
tice cases. Although there are no reported decisions in Colorado to address whether a plaintiff
may recover for deceptive trade practices in a legal malpractice action, other jurisdictions’ con-
sumer protection statutes have been applied to lawyers.

The deceptive trade practices statute is found at C.R.S. § 6-1-105(1), and is part of the
Colorado Consumer Protection Act (CCPA). The sections of the deceptive trade practices statute
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§29.1.1 Lawyers’ Professional Liability in Colorado

that might be applicable to a legal malpractice case are in C.R.S. §§ 6-1-105(1)(e), (g), (u), and
(z). Those subsections provide liability for a person who does the following in the course of trade
or commerce:

(e) Knowingly makes a false representation as to the characteristics, ingredients,
uses, benefits, alterations, or quantities of goods, food, services or property or a
false representation as to the sponsorship, approval, status, affiliation, or connec-
tion of a person therewith;

(g) Represents that goods, food, services, or property are of a particular standard,
quality, or grade, or that goods are of a particular style or model, if he knows or
should know that they are of another;

(u) Fails to disclose material information concerning goods, services, or property
which information was known at the time of an advertisement or sale if such fail-
ure to disclose such information was intended to induce the consumer to enter into
a transaction.

(z) Refuses or fails to obtain all governmental licenses or permits required to per-
form the services or to sell the goods, food, services, or property as agreed to or
contracted for with a consumer. (Emphasis added.)

The claim could conceivably cover statements by the lawyer concerning the quality of his
or her legal services, failure to disclose the lawyer’s inadequacies or inexperience in certain areas
of the law, or any false representations or deliberate overbilling.! Additionally, the claim could
cover the unauthorized practice of law.

This statute has the possibility of being a particularly powerful tool because, if the claim
is proven, the successful plaintiff is entitled to attorney fees and, if it is established by clear and
convincing evidence that the defendant engaged in bad faith conduct, treble damages.2 Given
what Colorado courts have said regarding claims that are merely duplicative of negligence claims,
such as breach of fiduciary duty3 and breach of contract,* it seems unlikely that courts will allow
a deceptive trade practices claim to stand unless there is compelling evidence to support the
deceptive trade practices aside from mere professional negligence.

§ 29.1.2—Purpose Of The Act

The purpose of the CCPA is to provide “prompt, economical and readily available
remedies against consumer fraud.”> The legislature enacted the CCPA “to prevent the use of
methods or tendencies that have a tendency or capacity to attract customers through deceptive
trade practices.”® Accordingly, the CCPA defines and proscribes a large number of deceptive trade
practices.’

The CCPA creates a private right of action under C.R.S. § 6-1-113(1), thereby permitting
“any person” to assert a claim for any deceptive trade practice listed in C.R.S. § 6-1-105. The

29-2 (10/05)



Statutory Legal Malpractice Claims §29.1.3

Colorado Supreme Court’s decisions in Rhino Linings USA, Inc. v. Rocky Mountain Rhino Lining,
Inc.,® Martinez v. Lewis,? and Hall v. Walter10 set forth the elements of a CCPA claim and the lim-
its of such a claim.

§ 29.1.3—Elements Of A Deceptive Trade Practices Claim

Generally, a plaintiff asserts a violation of the CCPA against a lawyer under C.R.S. §§ 6-
1-105(1)(e) and (g). Under C.R.S. § 6-1-105(1)(e), a plaintiff claims that the lawyer-defendant
knowingly made a false representation as to the characteristics, uses, or benefits of his or her serv-
ices. Under C.R.S. § 6-1-105(1)(g), a plaintiff claims that the lawyer-defendant represents that his
or her services are of a particular standard, quality, or grade when he or she knew or should have
known that they are of another.

A plaintiff must commence all actions brought under the CCPA within three years after
the date on which the false, misleading, or deceptive act occurred.!! If a plaintiff proves his or her
case, the CCPA permits the award of attorney fees and costs, and the greater of (1) actual dam-
ages, (2) $500, or (3) treble damages, if it is established by clear and convincing evidence that the
defendant engaged in bad faith conduct.!? A plaintiff may not recover both punitive damages
under a common law claim and treble damages under the CCPA.13

To prove a CCPA violation, a plaintiff must show:

(1) that the defendant engaged in an unfair or deceptive trade practice; (2) that the
challenged practice occurred in the course of the defendant’s business, vocation, or
occupation; (3) that it significantly impacts the public as actual or potential con-
sumers of the defendant’s goods, services, or property; (4) that the plaintiff suffered
injury in fact to a legally protected interest; and (5) that the challenged practice
caused the plaintiff’s injury.!4

Furthermore, for claims based on deceptive trade practices of knowingly making a false
representation or representing that services are of one particular standard when the defendant
knew they were of another, no expert testimony is necessary because the claims are based on
actual knowledge.!5> However, if a claim is made based on a deceptive trade practice of represent-
ing that services are of one particular standard when the defendant should have known they were
of another, expert testimony is required to the extent expert testimony would be required in a pro-
fessional negligence case.!6

Who May Bring a CCPA Claim
In Hall v. Walters,!7 the supreme court clarified that a “person” who is not an actual or

potential consumer has a right to bring a CCPA claim. There, the plaintiff landowners were sub-
ject to trespassers who had purchased adjacent property from the defendant-developers based on
false representations that the defendants had an access route across the plaintiffs’ property.
However, in Rhino Linings,'8 the supreme court refused to allow a non-consumer plaintiff to pro-
ceed on a CCPA claim where the plaintiff, unlike the plaintiffs in Hal/l, had a contractual relation-
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ship with the defendant, would not have suffered harm but for the defendant’s breach of contract,
and where there was no finding that third-parties were deceptively induced to buy because of the
defendant’s false representation.

Deceptive Trade Practice of Knowingly Making a False Representation
In Rhino Linings, the Colorado Supreme Court addressed what must be proved to estab-

lish a deceptive trade practice:

1))

2)

3)

False Representation

A false representation need not deceive a plaintiff, so long as it had the capac-
ity or tendency to do so.19 “[A] false representation must either induce a party
to act, refrain from acting, or have the capacity or tendency to attract con-
sumers.”20

Knowingly Making

Such a misrepresentation is actionable when it is made “‘either with knowledge
of its untruth, or recklessly and willfully made without regard to its conse-
quences, and with an intent to mislead and deceive the plaintiff.””2!

1133

A knowing misrepresentation is distinguishable from a contractual promise.
“A promise cannot constitute a misrepresentation unless the promisor did not
intend to honor it at the time it was made.”?2 The Hall decision holds that a
plaintiff’s right to assert a claim under the CCPA is not affected by the fact that
the same set of facts are the basis for other causes of actions.23 However, in
Rhino Linings, the supreme court noted that “[a] breach of contract claim,
without additional conduct, cannot constitute an actionable claim under the
CCPA."24

Public Impact Requirement

A wrong that is private in nature and does not affect the public is not actionable
under the CCPA.25 To meet the public impact requirement (i.e., the requirement
that the challenged practice significantly impacts the public as actual or poten-
tial consumers of the defendant’s goods, services, or property), considerations
include:

(1) the number of consumers directly affected by the challenged practice, (2)
the relative sophistication and bargaining power of the consumers affected by
the challenged practice, and (3) evidence that the challenged practice has pre-
viously impacted other consumers or has the significant potential to do so in
the future.26

In Martinez v. Lewis,?’ a patient sued a physician who conducted an independent medical
evaluation of the patient at the request of the patient’s insurer for purposes of evaluating the
patient’s claimed injuries allegedly sustained in a car accident. The physician concluded that the
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patient was malingering and the insurer subsequently denied coverage for future care. The patient
sued the physician, claiming, infer alia, that the physician violated the CCPA by concealing the
fact that he was not qualified to select, administer, and interpret certain neuropsychologicial tests.28

In determining whether the plaintiff met the public impact requirement, the supreme court
noted that the physician’s alleged deceptive practices occurred solely in the context of his private
agreement to provide services to the insurer, who was the physician’s only consumer.2® Further-
more, the court found that the insurer, who had “ample access to information regarding appropri-
ate qualifications and practices for experts” and who had “extensive experience as a consumer of
this type of service,” was not the type of consumer the CCPA was designed to protect.30 The court
also noted that there was no allegation the physician’s services were previously affected by his
alleged misrepresentations or likely to be so affected in the future.3! Based on these factors, the
supreme court concluded that the alleged deceptive practices did not significantly impact the pub-
lic as consumers of the physician’s services.32

§ 29.1.4—Issues Particular To Claims Against Lawyers

Several other state legislatures have explicitly excluded professionals, or the provision of
professional services, from the reach of their consumer protection statutes.33 Colorado, however,
has not.

Colorado courts have not published an opinion as to whether a plaintiff may sue a lawyer-
defendant under the CCPA. Other jurisdictions take a variety of positions. Delaware and New
Jersey, for example, have inferred an exception for learned professions under their consumer pro-
tection statutes.34 Other states approach the issue by looking at whether the lawyer is sued for pro-
fessional services or the entrepreneurial or commercial aspects of the practice of law, refusing to
extend the statutes to the professional malpractice context.3> In Massachusetts, the consumer pro-
tection statute appears to apply to lawyers without exception: it has been applied to cases of
unlawful billing, unethical deceit regarding the status of litigation, and reliance on an illegal con-
tingency fee agreement to collect a fee.3¢

Given that the legislature has not explicitly excluded professionals from the CCPA, and
given that the supreme court has already addressed at least one case involving a professional
defendant in a CCPA claim, it appears likely Colorado will allow a CCPA claim against a lawyer,
at least under some circumstances. If, for example, a lawyer advertises expertise in a particular
area of the law, but in fact has no such expertise, or misrepresents his or her level of experience to
the public in advertising, it may be that a deceptive trade practices claim will be appropriate. On
the other hand, if the lawyer has merely agreed to represent the client competently but fails to do
so, the client has a claim for professional negligence; a deceptive trade practices claim seems to
be duplicative and inappropriate.
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§ 29.2 - RACKETEER INFLUENCED AND

CORRUPT ORGANIZATIONS ACT

The Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act37 (RICO) imposes criminal and
civil liability upon persons who engage in certain “racketeering activities” as defined in § 1961(1).
Section 1962 lists prohibited activities, and almost all of RICO claims against professionals allege
a violation of § 1962(c).38 To successfully state a RICO claim, a plaintiff must sufficiently allege
“(1) conduct (2) of an enterprise (3) through a pattern (4) of racketeering activity.”3? “Racketeer-
ing activity” includes a multitude of illegal acts, including state-law crimes, crimes indictable
under federal statute, and certain federal offenses.40 A “pattern of racketeering activity” consists
of two or more acts of racketeering activity that have occurred within the last 10 years.#! “The
target of [RICO] is thus not sporadic activity. The infiltration of legitimate business normally re-
quires more than one ‘racketeering activity’ and the threat of continuing activity to be effective.
It is this factor of continuity plus relationship which combines to produce a pattern.”#2 A pattern
requires the showing of continuity or “the threat of continuing activity.”43 Sporadic activity or an
isolated offense is not sufficient to establish a pattern of racketeering activity.44

In order to establish a pattern of racketeering activity, a plaintiff must show that the rack-
eteering activities are “related” and that they amount to, or pose a threat of, “continual” criminal
activity.4> The racketeering activities are related if they have “the same or similar purposes,
results, participants, victims, or methods of commission or otherwise are related by distinguishing
characteristics and are not isolated events.”¢ “Continuity” focuses on the period during which the
acts occurred and consists of either closed-ended or open-ended acts.#7 A closed-ended act con-
sists of predicate acts occurring before trial and occurring over a substantial period of time.48
Open-ended acts consist of threats of continued prohibited conduct.4?

The statute of limitations for a RICO action is four years.5? The determination of when a
cause of action accrues is a federal question.>!

Plaintiffs may assert a wide variety of claims under RICO. Lawyers have been sued for
securities fraud, breach of fiduciary duty, and mail fraud. However, after the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act>2 (PSLRA) (which authorizes the Securities Exchange Commission to
bring enforcement actions against any person who aids and abets violations of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934) was enacted in 1995, conduct actionable as securities fraud can no longer
be a predicate act for a civil RICO case, unless the defendant was convicted of a crime involving
the securities fraud.53 Therefore, the PSLRA has generally greatly reduced lawyers’ exposure to
securities claims.

There are few reported RICO claims against lawyers in Colorado.
In a Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals decision, Pitts v. Turner and Boisseau, Chartered,>* a

dentist failed to establish a RICO claim against his lawyers. In that case, a dentist retained lawyers
Turner and Boisseau to represent him in a licensing proceeding with the Kansas Dental Board.>>
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The Dental Board revoked the dentist’s license, and the dentist subsequently filed a civil rights
suit against the Dental Board. Turner, who initially represented the dentist in the licensing pro-
ceeding, assisted the attorney general in representing the secretary of the Dental Board in the civil
rights suit.5¢ The dentist, in turn, commenced an action against the lawyers, the attorney general,
and various others contending that the defendants were aware of the fiduciary relationship
between him and Turner, and conspired with Turner to obtain information in violation of RICO.57
The trial court found that the dentist’s complaint only described one scheme — that is, to defraud
the dentist of his confidences and secrets, although it alleged a general statement of numerous acts
that allegedly transpired to carry out the scheme.5® Because the dentist had made no specific alle-
gations to establish more than one scheme, the trial court dismissed the RICO claim and the
appellate court affirmed that dismissal.

In Seidl v. Greentree Mortgage Company,>® the Colorado district court dismissed racket-
eering claims against a lawyer and her client. The client, a computer science student, sued a mort-
gage company for various tort claims after the mortgage company’s bulk Internet advertising cam-
paign resulted in the student, rather than the mortgage company, receiving thousands of “bounce-
back” and reply e-mails. The mortgage company filed counterclaims against the student and her
lawyer, alleging, inter alia, racketeering. The RICO counterclaims were based on allegations that
the lawyer and her client schemed to extort money from Internet advertisers by re-registering a
generic domain name used for misaddressed and undeliverable e-mail, knowing it would attract
unwanted e-mail to ensnare unsuspecting advertisers with false claims for damages. The RICO
counterclaims alleged the lawyer and her client prepared and sent e-mails and participated in a
web page describing the lawsuit and soliciting funds to help pay for the lawsuit.60

The court dismissed all of the RICO counterclaims. First, the court dismissed the counter-
claim under § 1962(a), making it unlawful for a person who has received income from a pattern of
racketeering activity to use or invest it in any operation affecting interstate commerce. The court
found that the mortgage company had not shown that the lawyer or client obtained any income
from the alleged scheme, had not shown that the lawyer or the client used or invested any income
derived from the alleged scheme, and had not shown any injury from the use or investment of the
income derived from the alleged scheme, as opposed to just injury from the scheme itself.6!

Next, the court dismissed the counterclaim brought under § 1962(b), which makes it
unlawful for a person, through a pattern of racketeering activity, to acquire or maintain an interest
in or control of any enterprise affecting interstate commerce. The court found the allegations that
the client’s business and the lawyer’s law firm were enterprises under RICO were unsupported by
any specific allegations regarding the structure or operation of the alleged enterprises or any spe-
cific allegations of the alleged association between the two. The court also found that allegations
of the predicate offenses of mail and wire fraud were not supported by sufficient facts, including
the specific number of wires, the precise dates, and how they furthered the scheme, to meet the
heightened pleading requirements of F.R.C.P. 9(b). Furthermore, the court found that, at best, the
mortgage company showed “a single scheme directed at one victim with one discrete goal,”02 not
a threat of continuing illegal activity. The mortgage company’s conclusory allegation of a threat of
continuing illegal activity did not allege specific facts that showed such a threat. Therefore, the
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mortgage company failed to show a pattern of racketeering activity.63 Likewise, the allegations
regarding acquiring or maintaining an interest in or control of an enterprise, as well as the demon-
stration of an “enterprise” fell short of the specificity required under F.R.C.P. 9(b).

In addressing the counterclaim brought under § 1962(c), which prohibits a person
employed by or associated with any enterprise from conducting or participating in the conduct of
such enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of racketeering activity, the court stated “an attorney
does not participate in the operation or management of an enterprise by offering legal advice or
otherwise represent[ing] a client.”®4 Therefore, the mortgage company’s allegation that the lawyer
knew about and acquiesced in the client’s fraudulent re-registration of the domain name was
insufficient to show conduct or participation in the conduct of a RICO enterprise.6>

Finally, the Seid/ court found the allegations of violations of § 1962(d), prohibiting con-
spiracies to violate other provisions of RICO, were too vague and conclusory.66

§ 29.3 - COLORADO ORGANIZED CRIME CONTROL ACT

Colorado’s version of RICO, the Colorado Organized Crime Control Act (COCCA)%7 is
generally patterned after RICO.%8 Like its federal counterpart, COCCA prohibits activities consti-
tuting a “pattern of racketeering” to influence an enterprise.®® Under COCCA, any person injured
by reason of any prohibited activities listed in C.R.S. § 18-17-104 may maintain a private cause of
action. If the activities constituting a violation of the COCCA are fraudulent acts, the plaintiff must
plead the circumstances underlying the claim with the particularity required by C.R.C.P. 9(b).70

A “pattern of racketeering” requires “engaging in at least two acts of racketeering activity
which are related to the conduct of the enterprise.”’! “Racketeering activity” occurs if one com-
mits, attempts to commit, conspires to commit, or solicits, coerces, or intimidates another person
to commit, any of the federal or Colorado crimes listed under C.R.S. § 18-17-103.72 Colorado has
adopted the U.S. Supreme Court’s analysis of what constitutes a “pattern of racketeering activity”
as applied in H.J. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Telephone Company.’3 Accordingly, Colorado requires
a showing that the racketeering activities are “related” and that they amount to or pose a threat of
“continual” criminal activity.”#

In Floyd v. Coors Brewing Company,’> a former employee sued Coors and its lawyers
claiming wrongful discharge, outrageous conduct, and violations of COCCA. The plaintiff alleged
that in his capacity as Coors’ director of security, safety, and occupational health, he engaged in
covert drug purchases under the direction and approval of his supervisors for the purpose of dis-
covering illicit drug use by Coors’ employees. The plaintiff alleged that the purchases were made
with funds deposited in and then withdrawn from the account of Coors’ lawyers. According to the
plaintiff, his supervisors conspired to discharge him and make it appear he had engaged in the
illegal drug purchases on his own when it appeared the operation might be exposed.’®
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The Colorado Court of Appeals upheld the dismissal of the COCCA claims because the
plaintiff lacked standing to bring them. The court found that “none of the damages alleged by him
was caused by the underlying acts of criminality that he relied upon to establish a pattern of rack-
eteering activity.”77 The court noted that although a plaintiff need not demonstrate that injury
resulted from a pattern of racketeering, so long as one or more injuries to someone resulted from
each of the predicate acts, the injury for which compensation is demanded must be caused by at
least one of the predicate acts.”® Because the plaintiff alleged only damages resulting from a
wrongful discharge, which did not constitute one of the acts contemplated by COCCA, the dam-
ages did not result from a predicate act.”® Furthermore, the plaintiff did not allege the coverup of
the prior criminal acts was a predicate act under COCCA.80 Accordingly, the court of appeals con-
cluded the allegations were insufficient to give the plaintiff standing under COCCA .81

§ 29.4 - RIGHTS IN STOLEN PROPERTY STATUTE

The Colorado Rights in Stolen Property statute states:

All property obtained by theft, robbery, or burglary shall be restored to the owner,
and no sale, whether in good faith on the part of the purchaser or not, shall divest
the owner of his right to such property. The owner may maintain an action not only
against the taker thereof but also against any person in whose possession he finds
the property. In any such action, the owner may recover two hundred dollars or
three times the amount of the actual damages sustained by him, whichever is
greater, and may also recover costs of the action and reasonable attorney fees; but
monetary damages and attorney fees shall not be recoverable from a good-faith
purchaser or good-faith holder of the property.82

Although proof of a criminal act is required, damages for civil theft may be obtained
without proof of conviction of burglary, theft, or robbery.83

In Itin v. Bertrand T. Ungar, P.C.,8* a lawyer and his law firm were sued under the Rights
and Stolen Property statute. The lawyer was acting as his client’s escrow agent for the purpose of
purchasing stock. After the client wired funds to the lawyer’s trust account, the lawyer disbursed
those funds from the trust account to other companies. The client claimed that the disbursements
were not authorized and sued, alleging the lawyer had committed the crime of theft in taking the
money. Rejecting the lawyer’s argument that criminal conviction was a prerequisite to the award
of treble damages under the Rights and Stolen Property statute, the Colorado Supreme Court
upheld the award of treble damages, attorney fees, and costs in favor of the client.85
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§ 29.5 - OTHER STATUTORY CLAIMS

§ 29.5.1—Fraudulent Transfer Act

A fraudulent conveyance is a transfer undertaken by a debtor with intent to place property
beyond reach of creditors.8¢ The Colorado Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act87 governs fraudulent
conveyances and is similar to the Uniform Fraudulent Transfer Act. In Colorado, lawyers have
been disciplined, including disbarment, for conduct violating the Colorado Uniform Fraudulent
Transfer Act.38 For a detailed discussion of lawyer liability under the Colorado Uniform Fraudu-
lent Transfer Act, see Chapter 18, “Creditors’ Rights and Debt Collection,” of this handbook.

§ 29.5.2—Fair Debt Collection Practices Acts

In 1977, Congress enacted the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (FDCPA) to protect
consumers against debt collection abuses.8? Congress initially did not include lawyers within the
Act’s coverage. In 1986, however, Congress amended the Act, removing the exclusion for
lawyers.90 The Colorado Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (CFDCPA) also includes lawyers
within its scope.?! Please refer to Chapter 18, “Creditors’ Rights and Debt Collection,” of this
handbook for a discussion of lawyers’ liability under these acts.

§ 29.5.3—Federal And State Securities Laws

There is little doubt that lawyers may be held liable pursuant to state and federal securi-
ties statutes; however, the subject is largely beyond the scope of this Chapter. Please refer to
Chapter 25, “Liability Under the Federal Sarbanes-Oxley Act,” of this handbook for a detailed
discussion of lawyers’ exposure under the state and federal securities statutes.

*Updating a chapter originally written in 1999 by Michael T. Mihm, Starrs Mihm & Caschette, LLP; and
Leslie C. Dolan, Leventhal, Brown & Puga, P.C.
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54.
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Id. at 1303.

1d. at 1303-04.

Id. at 1304.

1d. at 1304-05.
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Seidl, 30 F. Supp.2d at 1305.

1d. at 1306.

C.R.S. §§ 18-17-101, et seq.

People v. Chaussee, 880 P.2d 749, 754 (Colo. 1994).

CR.S. § 18-17-104.

New Crawford Valley, Ltd. v. Benedict, 877 P.2d 1363, 1371 (Colo. App. 1993).
CR.S. § 18-17-103(3).

Benedict, 877 P.2d at 1371.

Id. HJ. Inc. v. Northwestern Bell Telephone Company, 492 U.S. 229 (1989).
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83.
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86.
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88.
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Itin v. Bertrand T. Ungar, P.C., 17 P.3d 129 (Colo. 2000).

1d.

1d.

Crown Life Ins. Co. v. April Corp., 855 P.2d 12 (Colo. App. 1992).
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1993); People v. Mason, 938 P.2d 133 (Colo. 1997).

&9.
90.
91.

15 U.S.C. § 1692(e).
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